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In 2023, Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited (MJE), a pillar of nation-building within
the Jamaican stock market, steadfastly pursued its commitment to the growth of local
enterprises. Boasting a portfolio of premier Public Listed Companies from the Jamai-
ca Stock Exchange (JSE), MJE navigated through the year with the theme “Adap-
tive Strategies for Unyielding Success,” showcasing resilience and strategic flexibili-
ty amidst global economic challenges. Despite encountering a net loss, our focused
efforts on enhancing dividend income and securing slight financial instrument gains
highlight our dedication to overcoming obstacles such as elevated interest rates and
inflation.

This year’s performance, characterized by financial setbacks, has not swayed us from
our mission or commitment to our core objectives. Looking forward, our aim is to forti-
fy our financial health and operational breadth, while continuously seeking innovation
and leadership in the Jamaican investment landscape. As we advance, our confidence
in the resilience and growth potential of the Jamaican economy guides us, promising
a journey toward enhanced corporate profitability and investment opportunities.

no; fatal : It is the courage to continue that counts,” embody-
e forv wﬂh.,ggurgge and determlnatlon




OUR CORE
VALUES

-Integrity

-Accountability

-Creating Wealth through knowledge
-Attention to detail

-Relationship building and
community development
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M ayberry Jamaican Equities Limited (MJE) is a collection of the best Jamaican Public Listed Compa-
nies on the Jamaica Stock Exchange (JSE). Our philosophy is to support nation-building through invest-
ment in local companies, to help these businesses grow and improve, and to leverage our access to financ-
ing, stakeholders, and prospects.

| am pleased to introduce the yearly assessment of our financial firm’s performance for the year 2023. De-
spite the persistent difficulties posed by the global economic climate, | am pleased to announce that The
Company has remained focus on its mandate and continues to make substantial strides and advancements
towards delivering improved performances going forward.

For the financial year ended December 2023, MJE reported a Net Loss of US$15.9 million, a decline of
US$49 million or 148% over the corresponding period in 2022. This performance was attributed mainly to
net unrealized losses on investments in associates of US$14.5 million for the period, representing a decline of
143% when compared to the similar period last year. This was offset by higher dividend income of US$347K
or 10%, along with improved unrealized gains on financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss
(FVTPL) of US$35K or 64%. The persistent high interest rate environment as well as high inflation levels in
the economy negatively impacted the stock market throughout the financial year. This resulted in a loss per
share (LPS) of US$0.013 for the 12 months ending December 31, 2023, versus earnings per share (EPS) of
US$0.028 for the 2022 comparative period.

Our net book value per share decreased by 14.4% to US$0.093 ( J$14.40) as at December 31, 2023, com-
pared to US$0.109 (J$16.46) for the corresponding period in 2022.

Thus far, the economy has demonstrated its ability to withstand and rebound from challenges, and we are
optimistic that it will commence a period of growth. Based on this growth, we anticipate a rise in corporate
profitability, which will offer us greater investment opportunities in Jamaica, a country that has our affec-
tion. We express our gratitude to our Board of Directors, Management, Employees, and Shareholders for
their confidence in us and the work we carry out. We will strengthen our Business to guarantee that MJE
remains the only Jamaican stock you should own.

As we advance into the upcoming year, we are dedicated to achieving a robust financial performance, grow-
ing our business, and providing exceptional service to our clients. We shall persist in allocating resources
towards technology and innovation in order to maintain a competitive advantage and provide enhanced
benefits to our consumers. Ultimately, | express my gratitude to our shareholders and workers for their
steadfast support and dedication to the advancement and prosperity of our organisation. We anticipate
another year of advancement and achievement.

Christopher Berry
Executive Chairman,
Mayberry Jamaican Equities
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C ommencing 2023, we harboured an extraordinarily positive outlook. After successfully navigating
through challenging circumstances in the past, our objective was to maintain a trajectory of expansion and
stability while capitalising on advantageous prospects. MJE upholds a robust market positions, ensures
streamlined operations, expands its digitization efforts, and capitalises on market intelligence.

In 2023, the economy has demonstrated it can overcome obstacles, therefore we expect growth. This ex-
pansion should boost company profitability, giving us more investment prospects in Jamaica, our beloved
country to overturn Net Losses of US$15.9 million in 2023. The persistent high interest rate environment as
well as high inflation levels in the economy negatively impacted the stock market throughout the financial
year. Our Total Comprehensive Loss for the year was US$18.3 million for the 12 months ended December 31,
2023. The net book value per share decreased by 14.4% to US$0.093 ( J$14.40) as at December 31, 2023,
compared to US$0.109 (J$16.46) for the corresponding period in 2022,

We have been and will continue to be aided by our strong leadership and efficient portfolio management,
notwithstanding the local and global economic climates.

Since its initial public offering on the Main Market, MJE has maintained its objective
of acquiring high-quality investments for its portfolio and attaining enduring, sustainable expansion. We
are cognizant of the fact that the global financial environment presents formidable obstacles, but MJE will
maintain its long-term concentration with the assistance of its steadfast leadership.

We value the confidence that our Board of Directors, Management, Staff, and shareholders have in our or-
ganisation and our efforts. We will fortify our operations so that MJE remains the only Jamaican stock that
you ought to own.

U/ v

Natalie Glitzenhirn-Augustin
Managing Director,
Mayberry Jamaican Equities
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The Directors submit herewith the Profit & Loss and Other Comprehensive Income of MJE for the year end-
ed December 31, 2023, together with the Statement of Financial Position as at the same date.

The Profit & Loss and Other Comprehensive Income shows the following:

Financial Results Us $°000

Net operating losses (14,505)

Loss before taxation (15,899)

Taxation -

Net Loss (15,899)

Changes in the fair value of equity investments at FVTOCI 329

Total comprehensive loss for the year (18,292)
Directors

The Directors as at December 31, 2023 are Messrs. Christopher Berry, Konrad Berry, Richard Surage, Mrs.
Natalie Glitzenhirn-Augustin and FinDir Limited.

The Articles of Incorporation of the Company provide for a Board of Directors of not less than three (3) but
no more than twelve (12) persons. The current Board comprises five (5) Directors. Under the Articles, as is
customary, the Board of Directors is entrusted with the powers of management of the Company’s business.

In accordance with Article 100 of the Articles of Association, the Directors to retire are Mr. Richard Surage
and FinDir Limited and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

External Auditors

The Auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, Scotiabank Centre, Duke Street, Kingston, Jamaica, have expressed
their willingness to continue in office.

The Directors wish to thank the partners and shareholders for their support during the year.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Christopher Berry,
Executive Chairman
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CHRISTOPHER BERRY
B.Sc. (Hons.)
Executive Chairman

Mr. Christopher Berry is the Chairman of Mayberry
Jamaican Equities Limited, Mayberry Investments
Limited, Mayberry Holdings Limited and Mayberry
Group Limited. He is also a director of three (3) oth-
er publicly listed companies: Caribbean Producers
Jamaica Limited, Lasco Financial Services Limited
and Supreme Ventures Limited.

EQUITIES

s

Mr. Berry is also a director of several private com-
panies including Apex Health Care Limited and Apex
Pharmacy Limited. He has over 30 years’ of experi-
ence in the securities industry in Jamaica and holds a
B.Sc. (Hons) degree in IndustrialEngineering from the
Georgia Institute of Technology.
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KONRAD BERRY
B.Sc. (Hons.)
Executive Director

Mr. Konrad Berry is an Executive Director and Vice
Chairman of MJE. He also holds the position of Ex-
ecutive Vice Chairman of Mayberry Investments
Limited, Mayberry Holdings Limited and Mayberry
Group Limited.

Mr. Berry started his working career at Price Wa-
terhouse (now PricewaterhouseCoopers) as a Staff
Accountant before joining the family firm, Mayber-
ry, as a trader.

14

He holds a B.Sc. (Hons) degree in Management & Eco-
nomics from the University of The West Indies.

Mr. Berry is currently a Director of Caribbean Produc-
ers Limited, Widebase Limited and Mayberry Asset

Managers Limited.

He is also a member of the Remuneration and
Service Review Committee.

" EQUITIES
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RICHARD SURAGE

B.Sc.(Hons.)

Mr. Richard Surage has had a distinguished career in
the accounting and finance profession commencing
in 1996 in Saint Lucia with Pricewaterhouse,continu-
ing to work for the company when it became Price-
waterhouseCoopers. He worked with Arthur An-
dersen in the Cayman Islands for two years. Shortly
thereafter he left for Barbados to join Ernst & Young
where he managed the firm’s clients in the Eastern
Caribbean,// namely Antigua and Barbuda, Domini-
ca, St. Lucia and St. Vincent and the Grenadines.

Richard became a Partner at PKF St. Lucia in 2010, a
role he currently holds. He has served on audits for
both large and complex engagements across a wide
cross-section of industries namely, financial ser-
vices,retail,manufacturing,telecommunication,and
tourism within the Caribbean, Canada, and the Unit-
ed States of America.

16

Richard has been a leader within the insolvency and
restructuring industry in St. Lucia. In 2011, he was ap-
pointed by the Eastern Caribbean Supreme Court to
serve as the Judicial Manager for the CLICO Interna-
tional Life Insurance Company, St. Lucia Branch, as
part of a restructuring exercise. In 2015 Richard was
selected by the Government of St. Lucia to be a mem-
ber of a committee to review and propose new laws
governing the insolvency practice in St. Lucia as guid-
ed by the World Bank.

Richard is a member of the Institute of Chartered Ac-
countants of the Eastern Caribbean, an associate of
the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators, DeputyChair-
man of the St Lucia Distillers Group of Companies and
a member of the St. Lucia Government’s Insolvency
Laws Committee.

EQUITIES



’ . .*--

(g """ & |
not be embarassed by your

~ _ failures,-learn from t
< start again.”
I —
"’-’-w : :'_:-l"

-

| g 17
@ . .










o Access to fu ‘bg thrnugh

equity capital

Strengthening of the
Company's profile

Creation of a liquid marke
for the shares
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Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited (MJE) was incorporated on June 23, 2005, in St. Lucia, as a wholly
owned subsidiary of Mayberry Investments Limited. In December 2023, the Group underwent a reorganiza-
tion resulting in MJE now being a wholly own subsidiary of Mayberry Group Limited.

Business Objective

MJE is an investment holding company whose objective is to achieve long term capital appreciation, while
preserving capital, by investing in public equity securities in Jamaica (“Jamaican equities”). The Company
employs a value-based approach to identifying and investing in high quality public businesses. This approach
is designed to compound book value per share over the long term. While the Company will seek attractive
risk-adjusted returns, it will always seek downside protection and attempt to minimise loss of capital. MJE is
comprised of holdings in various companies that are listed on the Junior Market and the Main Market of the
Jamaica Stock Exchange (JSE) and as of December 31, 2023, held 40 stocks

in its portfolio.

Investment Manager

The Company appointed Mayberry Asset Managers Limited (MAM) as Investment Manager in 2017. The in-
vestment management agreement provides for MAM to act as agent in the name of MJE and full authority
to make decisions to invest and manage the investment assets of the Company at its discretion but subject
to specified guidelines and shall abide by any statement of investment objectives and specific investment
restrictions applicable to the investment assets.

Investment Management and Performance Incentive Fee

(i) A Management Fee calculated as 0.50% of the Net Asset Value is payable quarterly; and

(i) An Incentive Fee of 8% of any increase in MJE’'s Comprehensive Income is calculated and payable on
December 31 each year based on the audited financial reports. No Incentive Fee is payable if the net book
value per share falls below previous levels attained (“hurdle per share”) until and unless those previous levels
are regained and surpassed.
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Corporate

Governance -

Overview

Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited (“MJE”) is committed to the highest standard of corporate gover-
nance and the maintenance of an effective framework for the management and control of its business.
Good governance thwarts complacency and supports efficient decision making. The Company follows
the principles of leading companies listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange and Local and International
best practices.

The Corporate Governance Policy as adopted and approved by the Board of Directors of MJE, complies
with the applicable laws and regulations, as well as locally and internationally accepted best practices;
consistent with the provisions of the PSOJ Corporate Governance Code 2021 and Rules of the Jamaica
Stock Exchange. The Corporate Governance Policy is available on our website at https://www.mayber-
ryinv.com/mje/investor-relations/.

Board Role and Function

The main role of the Board of Directors is to provide effective oversight and leadership of the Company’s
affairs for the ultimate benefit of its shareholders and its stakeholders. They set the values and standards
of the Company to ensure they align with its strategic objectives.

The five points below outline the major areas of focus of the Board:

e Sustained company growth

e Effective risk management

¢ Compensation decisions based on performance
¢ Integrity and ethical decision making

¢ Defined roles and responsibilities

All decisions made by the Board must be properly assessed based on all relevant information. It is incum-

bent that in all actions that are taken by the Board, the Directors must exercise sound judgement and
independent thinking in what they perceive is the best interest of the company.

Ma B TIEe
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Board Composition and Structure

As at December 31, 2023, the Board of Mayberry Jamaican Equities Ltd. consisted of five members. It is
chaired by Mr. Christopher Berry and comprises three Executive Directors, one Independent Non-Executive
and one Non-Executive Directors. The Board defines an Independent Non-Executive Director as someone
who will bring an independent judgement to bear on issues before the board and to act in the best interest
of the Company and its shareholders. A non-executive Director is deemed independent if they meet the
aforementioned description of independence.

The Board is effective and considered to be of an appropriate size for the Company. The Board believes
that the skills, knowledge and experience of the Directors is well balanced to provide the best level of criti-
cal thinking required to get the best results to improve all decision making. They are distinguished by their
professional ability and integrity, and therefore are expected to have independent thinking. This signifies
that, in making decisions on the behalf of the Company, the focus is firstly placed on the Company’s best
interest, and decisions are not influenced by personal relationships.

Board Committees

The Board of MJE improves its effectiveness and efficiency through the establishment of various sub-com-
mittees to provide vital support in the execution of its fiduciary duties and responsibilities. Board sub-com-
mittees handle matters requiring more detailed review or in-depth analysis, and makes decisions on the
behalf of the Board, or submits recommendations for its consideration. The major responsibility of the
sub-committees is to assist the Board in carrying out its functions and ensure that there is independent
oversight of internal controls and risk management. The Chairman of each Board Committee reports to the
Board on the matters discussed at Committee meetings. The Board has two committees, namely the Audit
& RiskCommittee and the Corporate Governance Committee.

\E}
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Board Committee Composition

Audit & Corporate

Risk Governance
Christopher Berry Executive Chairman Member
Konrad Berry Executive Director Member
Natalie Glitzenhim Managing Dlrector Chairman
Augustin
Richard Surage Independent Director Chairman
FinDir Limited Director Member Member

Directors Attendance: Board and Committee Meetings

Governance
Number of Meetings 2 4 1
Christopher Berry Executive Chairman 2 4
Konrad Berry Executive Director 2 1
Natalie Glitzenhirn Augustin Managing Director 2 1
Richard Surage Independent Director 2 4
FinDir Limited Director 2 4 1

§f MAYBERRY TR
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Audit & Risk Committee

The Audit & Risk Committee assists the Board in perform-
ing its duties as it relates to internal control systems, risk
management, internal and external audit functions, and
statutory reports.

Responsibilities include:

Defining the Company’s risk appetite

Overseeing the Company’s risk management
framework

Ensuring appropriate balance between downside risks
and rewards in on-going and new business activities
Monitoring the financial integrity of the

financial statements of the Company

Reviewing the external/internal audit needs of the
Company and recommending the appointment of
external auditors and their remuneration

Monitoring the performance of the external auditors,
their independence, objectivity and the effectiveness
of their audit process

Monitoring the internal audit and control

systems of the Company, reviewing and

approving the Company quarterly financial
statements and management reports prior

to release to the shareholders and the

Jamaica Stock Exchange.

e
é' MAYBERRY
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The specific roles and responsibilities of the
Audit Committee are documented in the Au-
dit Committee Charter approved by the Board
which can be found on the company website at
https://www.mayberryinv.com/mje/inves-
tor-relations.

Directors’ Remuneration

MJE compensates its Directors fairly and aligns
remuneration with the Company’s strategy. The
level of compensation reflects the time, com-
mitment and responsibilities involved and is
appropriate to attract, retain and motivate
the Directors. The remuneration of Directors is
made up solely of fees, which are determined
by their membership on various committees
and any other objective circumstances that the
Board may consider. Directors do not receive
any share-based compensation but are howev-
er encouraged to purchase shares on the open
market. The remuneration of Directors is dis-
closed in the annual report for transparency
purposes.

Corporate Goverance
Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee has re-
sponsibility for leading the Board appoint-
ment process and for identifying and nominat-
ing potential candidates for appointment to
the Board. This process is established on the
principles of transparency, objectivity and in-
dependence. The Committee also strives to
achieve best practice standards in Corporate
Governance, and is currently chaired by a cer-
tified Chartered Director.

2023 Annual Report




Shareholder Rights and
Responsibilities

Efforts are made by the Board to ensure that its
shareholders have different options to express-
their views, as well as engage the Company. The
Board is committed to maintaining dialogue
with shareholders and improving the Compa-
ny’s existing relations with them.

The Annual General Meeting (AGM) provides
this to its Shareholders by giving them the op-
portunity to directly interact with the Directors
of the Company. The Company also utilizes oth-
er communication channels that provide time-
ly and equal access to information, such as the
Company’s website, the annual Report, publica-
tion of the financials and the use of traditional
and social media marketing channels.

Environmental Responsibility

Shareholders are given the opportunity at AGMs to pose
questions to the Chairman and to other members of the
Board that may be present. The minutes of the AGMs are
also prepared and made available to shareholders for re-
view at the meeting. To complement these, the Investor
Relations section of the Company’s website at https://
www.mayberryinv.com/mje/investor-relations pro-
vides access to Company announcements, media releas-
es and audited financial statements and annual reports.

MJE is committed to protecting and conserving the environment by ensuring that environmentally friend-
ly initiatives are integrated into our core business activities, thereby minimizing the negative impact of our
operations on the environment. To demostrate our commitment to this effort, MJE has sought to digitize
a number of its processes, thus limiting the use of paper and other resources.

Enquiries from individuals and institutional investors on matters relating to their shareholdings and MJEs’
business are welcomed. Please feel free to contact the Managing Director at natalie.agustin@stluciafi-
nance.com to share your opinions, suggestions, and concerns with us.
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The stock market is filled with
individuals who know the price of
everything, but the value of nothing.”
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RFORMANCE
HLIGHTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2023

TOTAL ASSETS

(2%)

DECREASE OVER 2022

DEC. 2023: US$158.8M
DEC. 2022: US$161.3M

TOTAL EQUITY TO
SHAREHOLDERS

(14%) &

DECREASE OVER 2022

DEC. 2023: US$112.1M
DEC. 2022: US$130.9M

NET BOOK VALUE
PER SHARE

(14%)

DECREASE OVER 2022

DEC. 2023: US$0.093M
DEC. 2022: US$0.109M

CLOSING SHARE PRICE

(24%) @

DECREASE OVER 2022

DEC. 2023: JS$9.95
DEC. 2022: J$13.16

EARNINGS PER SHARE

(146%)

DECREASE OVER 2022
YTD DEC 2022

YTD DEC. 2023: (US$0.013)
YTD DEC. 2022: US$0.028

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(154%)@

DECREASE OVER
YTD DEC 2022

YTD DEC. 2023: (US$18.3M)
YTD DEC. 2022: US$34.2M




D YEAR

formance Highlights

Net Proﬁt Growth (%)

(60.2%)

Total Operating Income/(Loss) |
Operating Expenses 865 8 918 8,5601
Profit/(Loss) before Taxation 7,082 2,826 1,301 3,212;
Net Profit/(Loss) 7,071 2,817 1,260 3,120
Total Comprehensive Income/(Loss) 5,570 19,594 9,379 18,183’
Total Assets 40,053 67,696 62,653 77,446
Total Liabilities 8,499 18,035 11,076 6,335:
Total Equity 31,554 49,661 51,576 7112
Number of issued shares (units) 255 20,555 20,555 1,201,149?
Earnings per stock unit $0.34 $0.14 $0.06 $0.00S:
Net book value per stock unit $1.54 $2.42 $2.51 $0.06 |
Return on Equity 22.4% 57% 2.4% 4.4% |
Return on Average Assets 17.7% 4.2% 2.0% 4.0%
Asset Growth(%) (13.7%) 69.0% (7.4%) 23.6%

117 8% (55 3%) l

147.6% |



A

i

(280.5%)

(1843.5%)

Restated Restated
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
5,034 3,884 (26,650) 19,853 ST (10,316)
3,549 3,967 1,069 2,033 3,124 1,394
758 (1,428) (29,018) 16,433 33,193 (15,899)
816 (1,473) (28,627) 16,450 33,193 (15,899)
28,478 33,589 (45,807) 13,913 34,177 (18,292)
118,668 150,679 99,834 119,638 161,263 158,763
20,249 20,520 15,998 22,374 30,301 46,636 o

98,419 130,159 83,836 97,264 | 130,962 12,127
1,201,149 1,201,149 1,201,149 1,201,149 | 1,201,149 1,201,149
$0.001 | ($0.001) ($0.024) $0.014 $0.028 ($0.013)
$0.09 $0.11 $0.07 $0.08 | US$0.0M -$0.093
1.0% (1.3%) (26.8%) 16.9% 25.3% (14.2%)
0.7% (1.0%) (28.7%) 13.7% 20.6% (10.0%)

53.2% 27.0% (33.7%) 19.8% 34.8% (1.6%)
(73.8%) 157.5% 101.8% | (147.9%)



’

ILUE POWER
- GROUP LTD

1.1*133'.

- LUMBER DEPOT

R LTD

THE LIMNERS
- AND BARDS
LTD

tTECH LTD

MAIN EVENT
ENTERTAINMENT
GROUP LTD

&=
FUTURE ENERGY
SOURCE
.- COMPANY LTD

WIGTON A
WINDFARM LTD  °

S

Qwi INV‘EiTMENT_S' :
L

..,J-

J_
EDUFOCAL .“ : ok

LTD ..J'.
. =¥ 3
g ’_,
CARIBBEAN
CREAM LTD
SUPREME.

VENTURES LTD

NATIONAL
COMMERCIAL BANK
FINANCIAL GROUP.



CARGO
HANDLERS
LTD

JAMAICA
PRODUCERS
GROUP LTD

FONTANA LTD

DOLLA
FINANCIAL
SERVICES LTD

CARIBBEAN
CEMENT
COMPANY LTD

JMMB GROUP
LTD

MEDICAL
DISPOSABLE &
SUPPLIES LTD

ELITE CATERING

JAMAICA TEAS

SERVICES LTD" LTD
CARIBBEAN CARIBBEAN
ASSURANCE PRODUCERS
BROKER LTD (JAMAICA)LTD

JAMAICA CARRERAS LTD
BROILERS
GROUP LTD
GENERAL JETCON
ACCIDENT CORPORATION
INSURANCE LTD
COMPANY (JA)
LTD
DERRIMON GRACEL(TEDNNEDY
TRADING LTD
THE JAMAICA STOCK LASCO
EXCHANGE LTD FINANCIAL SERVICES
LTD
IRONROCK SAGICOR GROUP
INSURANCE JAMAICA LTD

COMPANY LTD

STATIONERY AND
OFFICE SUPPLIES
LTD



DISCUSSIOH &

2
g i
f

SR
e IO

Economic and Busmess
Environment

The Jamaican economy continued to recover in
2023 as Gross Domestic Product (GDP) for the
third quarter increased by 2.1% year on year. The
performance stemmed from a 2.1% increase in the
Services and a 2.1% growth in the Goods Produc-
ing Industries, reflecting the economy’s ongoing
recovery from the effects of the COVID-19 pan-
demic.

Since the onset of the COVID- 19 pandemic ten
consecutive quarters ago, the island’s tourism
sector has consistently achieved remarkable
growth figures, encompassing both revenue gen-
eration and visitor arrivals. The Ministry of Tour-
ism noted that the influx of visitors is expected to
generate US$4.265 billion in tourism earnings for
2023, representing a projected increase of 17.8%
over total inflows for 2022, and a 17.2% spike over
the out-turn for the pre-pandemic year of 2019.

Economic activity and employment continues to re-
bound, inflows into the foreign exchange market are
buoyant and the country’s international reserves have
remained strong. Recent developments in domestic in-
flation have prompted the Bank of Jamaica (BOJ) to
maintain measures to influence a return of inflation to
the Bank’s target of 4% to 6% in the near to medium
term.

Gross Domestic Product (GDP)

According to the Statistical Institute of Jamaica (STA-
TIN), the Jamaican economy grew by 2.1% during the
third quarter of 2023 relative to Q3 2022.

The growth was attributed to increases in both the Ser-
vices and Good Producing Industries (2.1%). In the ser-
vices industries, growth was recorded in various sectors,
including Transport,Storage & Communication (6.0%),
Hotels & Restaurants (6.7%), Other Services (4.5%), Fi-
nance & Insurance Services (1.5%), Electricity & Water
Supply (6.7%), Real Estate, Renting & Business Activities
(0.9%), and Wholesale & Retail Trade; Repairs: Installa-
tion of Machinery & Equipment (0.3%). The growth in the
Goods Producing Industries was largely attributable to
higher output in Mining & Quarrying (103.1%) followed by
Manufacturing (2.1%) and Construction (0.7%).

Gross Domestic Product (GDP)
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Foreign Exchange

For the year 2023, the foreign exchange market observed a continuation of two-way movements in the ex-
change rate. The Jamaican dollar (JMD) appreciated against the USD for the month of December 2023. The
JMD appreciated by $0.51 to close the month at an average of $155.94 relative to the $156.45 recorded in
November 2023. Year over year, the JMD has depreciated by approximately 1.46%.

The BOJ indicated that the foreign exchange market has remained relatively stable over the last four months.

Additionally, the stability in the foreign exchange market reflects continued strong tourism and remittance
inflows as well as actions taken by the bank to prevent undue volatility.

Exchange Rate Movements
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Net International Reserve

BOJ has reported that Jamaica’s Net International Reserves as at December 31, 2023 stood at US$4,748.14
million, reflecting an increase of US$150.55 million when compared to the US$4,597.58 million reported at
the end of November 2023.

Foreign Assets totalled US$4,858.54 million, US$131.33 million more than the US$4,727.21 million reported
in November 2023. ‘Currency & Deposits’ held by the BOJ as at December 31, 2023 totalled US$3,162.43
million, reflecting an increase of US$120.70 million compared to the US$3,041.73 million reported in No-
vember 2023. ‘Securities’ were valued at US$1,579.20 million; US$9.90 million more than the US$1,569.30
million reported at the end of November 2023. The country’s Special Drawing Rights rose to US$80.22
million relative to the US$79.71 million recorded a month prior. IMF Reserve Position’ rose to US$36.69 mil-
lion from the US$36.46 million reported last month. Liabilities to the IMF fell US$19.22 million to US$110.41
million against the US$129.63 million reported at the end of November 2023.

Net International Reserves
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Inflation

STATIN reported that for December 2023, the point-to-point inflation rate was +6.9%; 0.6 percentage
points higher than the prior point-to-point inflation rate. However, for the month of December 2023, the
inflation rate was +0.5%.

The main driver of the monthly increase (0.5%) was a 2.5% rise in the index for the ‘Housing, Water, Elec-
tricity, Gas and Other Fuels’ division, owing to higher rent,electricity, water, and sewage rates. Another
contributor to the increase was a 0.3% rise in the index for the ‘Food and Non-Alcoholic Beverages’ division
due mainly to increases in the classes: ‘Ready-made food and other food products n.e.c’ (4.2%) and ‘Fruit
and nuts’ (1.8%). The monthly increase was tempered by a 0.4% fall in the index for the ‘Transport’ division,
owing to lower fuel prices.

According to the BOJ, inflation is projected to continue to rise above the Bank’s target range for much of
the period between the December 2023 and March 2025 quarters, primarily due to the continued impact
of the increases in selected PPV fares.
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Policy Interest Rates

The Bank of Jamaica’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) unanimously decided to maintain the policy
interest rate at 7.0%, to preserve tight Jamaican dollar liquidity conditions, and ensure relative stability in
the foreign exchange market. The MPC’s decision was based on the positive trends in the key drivers of
headline inflation, stable core inflation and the expectation that the impact of the public passenger vehicle
(PPV) fare increase will be temporary. The BOJ’s updated assessment of the inflation outlook forecasts
inflation to continue to rise above the Bank’s target range for much of the period between the December
2023 and March 2025 quarters, primarily due to the continued impact of the increases in selected PPV
fares.

BOJ’s Policy Interest Rate
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MARKET DYNAMICS
Equities Market
Jamaica Stock Exchange (JSE) Main and Junior Markets

On the last trading day of 2023, the market experienced a rally, leading to a gain of over one point in the
JSE Combined Index, encompassing the JSE Main Market, JSE Junior Market, and JSE US Denominated
Index.

The JSE Main Market Index closed the year ending December 29, 2023, at 325,699.79 points, reflecting a
decline of 25,524.02 points or 7.84% relative to its initial 2023 level. Additionally, the JSE Junior Market In-
dex closed the year 2023 at 3,848.33 points, declining by 63.22 points or 1.64%.

The JSE Main Market, comprising the most heavily capitalized stocks, recorded its third-worst performance
in a decade. Its most severe downturn occurred in 2020, plummeting by 22.4% due to the impact of the

pandemic. In contrast, the JSE Junior Market, featuring small and medium-sized companies broke a two-
year streak of gains. During the pandemic in 2020, the junior market suffered a 21% decline.

JSE Main Market
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JSE Junior Market
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International

In the latter part of 2023, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) noted that the global economy was slowly
recovering from the impacts of the pandemic, Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, and a cost-of-living crisis. De-
spite disruptions in energy and food markets due to the war and efforts to combat high inflation through
global monetary tightening, the economy has not stalled but was experiencing slow and uneven growth.
There were significant divergences in global economic performance, with emerging markets and develop-
ing economies facing challenges in achieving a full recovery to pre-pandemic levels. Inflation, both headline
and underlying, was gradually being brought under control. However, global growth was projected to slow
from 3.5 percent in 2022 to 3 percent in 2023 and further to 2.9 percent in 2024, indicating a downgrade of
0.1 percentage point for 2024 compared to previous projections in July 2023. This forecast remains below
the historical average.

The World Bank’s Global Economic Prospects in June 2023 noted that the earlier resilience shown by
global economic activity was anticipated to diminish. The global economy was poised for a significant
slowdown in 2023, attributed to the ongoing tightening of monetary policy aimed at curbing high infla-
tion. Subsequently, a modest recovery is projected for 2024, with an expected growth rate of 2.4 percent.
Inflationary pressures persist, and the impact on growth from continued monetary tightening is projected
to peak in 2023 across several major economies. Additionally, recent stress in the banking sector is antici-
pated to further constrain credit conditions.

Most economies prioritize achieving sustainable disinflation in response to the cost-of-living crisis. Given
the potential risks of tighter monetary conditions and reduced growth impacting financial and debt sta-
bility, it is crucial to employ macroprudential measures and enhance mechanisms for debt restructuring.
Targeted fiscal assistance is essential for focusing on those most affected by escalating food and energy
prices.

Broad-based fiscal relief initiatives should be scaled back, to uphold the advantages of the rules-based
multilateral system. Climate change should be addressed through emission reduction and increased green
investment, as such, enhanced international cooperation is necessary.
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Overall Performance

MJE recorded a net loss of US$15.9 million for the 12 months ended December 31, 2023, representing a
decline of US$49 million or 148% over the corresponding period in 2022. This performance was attributed
mainly to net unrealized losses on investments in associates of US$14.5 million for the period, representing
a decline of 143% when compared to the similar period last year. This was offset by higher dividend income
of US$347K or 10%, along with improved unrealized gains on financial instruments at fair value through
profit and loss (FVTPL) of US$35K or 64%. The persistent high interest rate environment as well as high
inflation levels in the economy negatively impacted the stock market throughout the financial year. Total
operating expenses for the 12 months ended December 31, 2023 decreased by US$1.7 million or 55% to
US$1.4 million when compared to the 2022 comparative period.

This resulted in a loss per share (LPS) of US$0.013 for the 12 months ending December 31, 2023, versus
earnings per share (EPS) of US$0.028 for the 2022 comparative period.

Total Comprehensive Income

The Company recorded total comprehensive loss of US$18.3 million for the 12 months ended December
31, 2023. Other comprehensive income was due to changes in the fair value of equity investments carried
at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) which increased by US$1.6 million or 125% to
US$329K. This was in addition to foreign currency translation losses of US$2.7 million for the 12-month
period due to the devaluation of the Jamaican dollar over the prior period.

Total Comprehensive Income
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Net Asset Value

The net book value per share decreased by 14.4% to US$0.093 (J$14.40) as at December 31, 2023, com-
pared to US$0.109 (J$16.46) for the corresponding period in 2022. The decrease resulted primarily from the
US$12.5 million or 11% decrease in investments in associates to US$106.7 million.

MJE’s stock price closed at J$9.95 on December 29, 2023, decreasing 24% over its price of J$13.16 at
December 31, 2022.

Total assets as at December 31, 2023 were valued at US$158.8 million. This represents a 2% decrease from
the US$161.3 million reported as at December 31, 2022. The US$2.5 million decrease was mainly attributable
to an 11% decrease in investment in associates primarily due to the downward price movements for some
key securities in that portfolio. This was offset by a US$9.8 million or 25% increase in the carrying value of
investment securities on account of net acquisitions to the portfolio.

Net Asset Value
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Portfolio Information

MJE recorded net purchases in stock units of 36 million for the financial period ended December 3],
2023. During the year, MJE continued to alter the composition of the investment portfolio relying on the
experience and expertise of the Investment Manager, Mayberry Asset Managers Limited (MAM).

Some of the criteria that the Company and MAM believe to be important when identifying and
investing in Jamaican equities are: (i) attractive valuation, (ii) experienced and aligned management and (iii)
strong competitive position in their industry. These alongside a constant evaluation of risk and whether the
management teams can mitigate the risks.

The changes reflect the Investment Managers disposal of stocks, where the original investment thesis has
played out and/or where they have identified other investment opportunities which present more attractive
risk adjusted return opportunities.

The Company currently holds equities in 40 companies listed on the Main and Junior Markets of the
Jamaica Stock Exchange (JSE).

There was a mixed turnaround in stock prices for some of the securities in the portfolio’s Top Ten.
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Top Ten Performers

The top ten lists of stocks at December 31, 2023
reflects the addition of NCB Financial Group Lim-
ited (NCBFG) and Dolla Financial Services Lim-
ited. Securities no longer in the top ten included
Blue Power Group Limited and Caribbean Cement
Company Limited when compared to December 31,
2022.

* There have also been changes in the ranking of
top ten stocks as a percentage of the total portfolio
due to purchases, sales and relative capital appre-
ciation.

* The following top ten stocks reflect a net purchase
of units during the financial year: Jamaica Broilers
Group Limited, NCBFG, Supreme Ventures Limited,
JMMB Group Limited and Sagicor Group Jamaica
Limited.

* The following top ten stocks reflect a net sale of
units during the financial year:

Derrimon Trading Limited, Carreras Limited,
Caribbean Cement Company Limited, NCBFG and
GraceKennedy Limited.

TEN LARGEST HOLDINGS (VALUE OF SHARES) AS AT DEC 31,2022
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Dividend Income Dividend Income

For the year ended December 31, 2023, $4,500-
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Payment of Dividends

On July 31, 2023, a dividend of US$544K was paid following the Board’s approval of an ordinary dividend
payment of US$0.0005 per share. The payment was made to shareholders on record as of July 12, 2023.
Operating Expenses

Total operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2023 decreased by US$1.7 million to US$1.4
million when compared to the corresponding period in the prior year. The reduction year to date was
mainly attributable to lower expenses incurred for incentive fees paid to the Investment Manager due to
the losses incurred on the funds under management.

Operating Expenses
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Statement of

Financial Position
Assets

Total assets as at December 31, 2023 were valued at
US$158.8 million. This represents a 2% decrease from
the US$161.3 million reported as at December 31, 2022.

The US$2.5 million decrease was mainly attributable to
an 11% decrease in investment in associates primarily
due to the downward price movements for some key
securities in that portfolio.

This was offset by a US$9.8 million or 25% increase in
the carrying value of investment securities on account
of net acquisitions to the portfolio.

Asset Categories

Cash resources of US$1.4 million represented amounts
used for day-to-day operational activities, a decline of
US$924K when compared to the year ended December
31, 2022.

Investment securities increased by US$9.9 million or
25%. This was primarily driven by Jamaica Broilers
Group Limited, Dolla Financial Services Limited and
NCB Financial Group Limited. The portfolio has invest-
ments in diverse sectors, namely: entertainment, retail,
manufacturing, agriculture, conglomerates,banking, in-
surance and financial services.

Investment in associates of US$106.7 million-
decreased by US$12.5 million or 11%. This was
mainly attributable to a decline in the market
value of investment in associates for Supreme
Ventures Limited of US$11 million or 11%, Carib-
bean Producers Jamaica Limited of US$4.3 mil-
lion or 25%, and Lasco Financial Services Limited
of US$1.7 million or 34%. The balance comprises
associates at FVTPL: Supreme Ventures Limited
US$85.6 million,Caribbean Producers Jamaica
Limited US$12.9 million, Lasco Financial Services
Limited US$3.3 million, Dolla Financial Services
Limited US$4.2 million and IronRock Insurance
Company Limited US$682K as at December 31,
2022.

Other receivables totaled US$133K, an increase
of approximately US$77K or 139%, relative to the
corresponding period for 2022.

Liabilities

Total liabilities amounted to US$46.6 million as
at December 31, 2023, an increase of US$16.3
million or 54% compared to the corresponding
period in 2022, driven mainly by an increase in
funding from debt for investment purchases.

Total Assets and Liabilities
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Equity

MJE’s capital base continues to be strong, closing the year with US$112.1 million in shareholders’ equity
compared to US$130.9 million for the similar period in 2022. This was attributable primarily to a de-
crease in retained earnings for the 12-month period by US$16.2 million. This was offset by a year-over-
year increase in total fair value reserves of US$133K due primarily to the price appreciation of some
equities classified as FVTOCI.

Equity
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Risk

Manhagement

MJE continues to effectively manage risk in response to the ever-changing economic and investment
landscape. This year was one of great economic uncertainty for listed companies due to significant in-
terest rate increases, foreign exchange rate interventions and persistent inflation exceeding 6%. During
this period, the Company found it prudent to effectively manage its risk and has demonstrated a strong
understanding of the primary risks which may affect its viability and shareholders return. The key risk
areas include Operational Risk, Market Risk, Liquidity Risk, and Credit Risk, which are further broken
down below:

Operational Risk

Operational risk remains a focal point for MJE, encompassing potential losses stemming from internal
processes, human factors, and external events. Amidst the current economic climate, MJE prioritizes
monitoring key operational risks, including information technology disruptions, data protection vulner-
abilities, resilience challenges, and threats of theft and fraud. By actively assessing and mitigating these
risks, MJE ensures alignment with its risk appetite while pursuing strategic objectives.

Market Risk

MJE recognizes the volatility inherent in market variables such as stock prices and interest rates,
exerting significant influence on portfolio value and returns.

l. Equity Price Risk
Equity price risk refers to the potential for the price of a stock or other equity investment to fluctuate in
value due to a variety of factors, such as changes in market conditions, company performance, or other
external factors. The Company continues to diversify its portfolio to minimize industry and economic
shocks to the portfolio.

1. Foreign Exchange Risk
The Company invests in foreign-denominated securities and will face the risk of fluctuations in exchange
rates, that may negatively impact the value of investments denominated in those currencies. Publicly
available data, market metrics and statistical techniques such as Value-at-Risk (VaR) are used to quan-
tify and track market risks. These tools are used to guide the Board’s decision-making and ensure align-
ment with risk appetite and tolerance level.
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Liquidity

Liquidity risk, characterized by the potential inability to meet payment obligations in a timely manner, re-
mains a priority for MJE. The company maintains adequate liquidity positions to capitalize on opportuni-
ties in the local stock market while prudently managing cash inflows from invested Companies’ dividends.
By ensuring sustainable liquidity management practices, MJE mitigates the risk of financial instability and
optimizes resource allocation.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is defined as the potential loss arising from a borrower or counterparty failing to meet its
obligations in accordance with the agreed terms. The Company also maintains its level of credit respect as
a percentage of its overall portfolio as it continues to effectively meet its debt obligations. By upholding
prudent credit practices, MJE effectively fulfills its debt obligations while safeguarding shareholder value.

Conclusion:
Through diligent monitoring and proactive measures, we have effectively managed our risk exposures. As

we move forward, we will remain steadfast in our risk management practices driving sustainable growth
and value for our stakeholders.
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Mayberry Jamaica Equities L|
Top Ten Shareholders i

ot '~Vecember 31, 2023

-

SHAREHOLDINGS

MAYBERRY INVESTMENTS LIMITED 682,275,815

PWL BAMBOO HOLDINGS LIMITED 122,691,031

KONRAD BERRY 81,744,294

VDWSD LIMITED 67,252,400
MAYBERRY ASSET MANAGERS LIMITED 41,122,865
MANWEI INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 33,798,527
KMB HOLDINGS INC 20,257,740
THE MAYBERRY FOUNDATION LIMITED 10,554,868
KONRAD LIMITED 7,432,031
A+ MEDICAL CENTRE 6,641,141

CONNECTED PARTIES

A+ MEDICAL CENTRE 6,641,141
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... Shareholdings of Directors and
- Sinor Management
acer ber 31,2023

CONNECTED
HAREHOLDIN
S o &S PARTIES
CHRISTOPHER BERRY 5,890,241 143,174,056
KONRAD MARK BERRY 81,744,294 12,361,024
NATALIE AUGUSTIN 253,300 -

RICHARD SURAGE - -
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Independent auditors’ report

To the Members of Maybamy Jamaican Equities Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Dur opinion

In our opindon, the inancial statements present fairly, in all matenal respects, the financial position of
Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited (the Company) as at 31 December 2023, and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accowenting Standards.

What we have audited
The Company's financial statemenis comprise:

= fhe statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023,

+ the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year then ended;
= the stalemnent of changes in shareholders’ equity for the year then ended;

= the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

= tha notes to the financial slatemants, comprising mataral accounting policy information and other
explanatony information.

Basis for opinion

Wa conducted our audit in accordancs with International Standards on Auditing (I5A5), Our
responsibilities under those standards ans further described in the Audifors’ responsibiliies for the audi of
fhe financial staterments section of ocur report.

We believe that the aud® evidence we have oblained s sufficient and approprate to provide a bases for
our opinion,

Independence

Wea are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountanis {including Intemnational Indepandence Standards) issued by the International Ethécs
Standards Board for Accountanis (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordancs with the IESBA Code,
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Our audit approach

Audit scope

&g part of designing our audit, we delermined materality and assessed the risks of materal misstalement
in the financial slatements, In particular, we considered where management made subjective judgemenis;
for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates thal involved making assumplions and
considering future events that are inherently uncerain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk
of managemant override of internal confrols, inclueding, among other matlers, consideration of whelher
there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to frawd,

We tailored the scope of our audit in order 1o perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on
the financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Company, the accounting
processas and controls, and the industry in which the Company operales,

Key audit matters

Key audit matlers are those matters that, in our professional judgment, wane of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current pericd. These matiers were addressed in the context of our

awdit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Kay audit matter How our sudif addressed the key sudit matter

Imvesiment in Azsocislos

Refer to nofes £ (b)), 3 (a) and 8 io the fnancial
stateman(s for disciosures of related
accounting policies and balances,

The Company's total investments in associates We performed the following procedures, amongst others, as

was US 5106, 7 million as at 31 Decembsar it pertains o Investment in Associates as follows:

2023, mm“ﬂ;ﬂﬂ"ﬁ:h certain e Performed inquirnes and evaluated management's
SRR TINTE S S, range between accounting policies agains! the requirements of the
where there i board and/or board sub- e *

commitiee representation, » Read and evaluated management’s position papers on
As per the Company's accounting policies, li'r&dlhl'rnlﬂl'ﬂﬂn ﬂfﬂ? dessgnation of the investments
management recognises associales ag all as associaled companies;

eniities over which the Compary has » independently confirmed shareholdings of related
significant influence but not control, generalty associates with the local securities deposits registry;

accompanying a shareholding of 20% of the
valing righls. As the Company is deamed (o + Comoborated board and sub committes membership

have a similar business model 1o an through inspection of published submissions to tha
investment entity as defined by IFRS 10, the Jamaica Stock Exchange; and
Company has elected the exemplion from

applying the equity method in IAS 28 for its
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investmant in associates and recognises its & Challenged managemeni's assedtion that it gualifies for

investment in associates at FYTPL in the exemplion from equily acoounting under LAS 28
accordance with IFRS 9, paragraph 1B by assessing the following:
a  The natura of the Company’s oparations;
We focused our awdit efforts on this balance o How the business is managed; and
due to its material impact on the financial & How the performance of the Company is assessed
applicable accounting standard being LAS 28, and
Invesiment in Associated Companies and Joini v
Ventures. versus IFRS 0. Financial a Whlﬂﬂmﬁmﬁnﬂhmwﬂ
entities that LAS 28 describes as baing eligible for

Instruments. involved a lavel of applied

judgement by management. SeaTpton.

Basoed on the results of our audit procedunes, management's
application of accounting poficies are not unreasonabla.

Other information

Managemen! is responsibde for the other information. The other information comprises the Annual Repor
{but does nol mclude the financial statements and our auditors” repor thereon), which is expected to be
made available 1o us after the date of this auditors” repo.

Crur opandon on the financial statemants does not cover the other information and we will nol express any
farm of assurance conclusion tharaon.

In connection with our audit of the financial staternents, our responsibilty is to read the other information
identified above whan it becomes avadable and, in doing 50, consider whather tha ather information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or cur knowledge obtained in the audit, or othenwise
appears to be matenally misstated.

When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that theera is a material misstalament therein, we are
required io communicate the matier o thosa charged with governance.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial
statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and for such intermal control as managament determines s
necassary to enable the preparation of financial statemeants thal are free from material misstatement,
whether due fo frawd or error.

In preparing the financial staterments, management i responsible for assessing the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matiers related to going concem and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either inlends o Bguidate the Company or o
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Thosa charged with govemance are responsible for oversesing the Company's financial raporting
process.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial stalements

Our objectives are io obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
frea from material misstatermeant, whather due o fraud or efror, and o issue an auditors’ repor that
includes our opinkon. Reasonable assurance i a high level of assurance, but 5 notl a guarantes that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when / axists.
Misstatements can anse from fraud or emror and ane considersd matersal if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expecied to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

As parl of an audit in accordance with 1545, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scoplicism throughout the audit. We also:

* |dentify and assess the nsks of material misstaternent of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, dasign and perform audil procedures responsive 1o those risks, and obtain audit
avidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, inlentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of intemal contral,

= Dbtain an understanding of intermal control redevant to the audit in order to design audit proceduras
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

+ Evaluale the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

+  Conclude on the appropriatensss of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exisis related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concem. i
we conclude that a material uncertainty exisis, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosuras are inadeguate, to modify
our opindon, Our conclusions are based on the auddl evidence obtained up lo the date of our audilors
report. However, future evenis or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a gaing
CORCETA.

+  Ewvaluale the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial stalements, including the
discloswres, and whether the financial statemants represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among ofher matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any signiicant deficiencies in intemal
conirol thal we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with govermance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and lo communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions
taken to eliminate threals or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicaled with those charged with govemance, we determing those matters that
ware of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters, We describe these malters in our auditors’ report undess law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely are cirncumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 5o would
reasonably be expected to outweaigh the public interast benefits of such commanication.

The engagement pariner on the audi resulling in this independent auditors’ report is Tonya Graham,

w

Chartered Accountanis
Castrias, St. Lucia
26 February 2024
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Page 1
Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited
Statement of Financial Position
31 December 2023
(expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)
2023 202
Moda 5 5
ASSETS
Cash and doposits & 1445727 2,370,150
Rievirsa ropurchase agresmant 5 1,009,272 -
Inwestment securities T 40 447 £20 30, 562 421
Investments in associales 8 106, 75,973 119,274 524
Criher receivablas 132 536 55,655
Total Assats 158, 762,518 161,263,050
LIABILITIES
Duie o relaled comparmy b} 39,052,797 7,263,456
Accounts payable 0 1,075,048 1,855,345
Dubi securily in Esua 13 24,917 14 558 BEQ
Promigsory nabe payable 12 6482222 f,622, 157
Total Liabilities 46,635 BA4 30,300,618
EQUITY
Share capital 15 20,556,260 20,556,260
Fair valug resene 16 5600585 5,557 224
Translalion resena 17 {34 652, 216) (31,930,904)
Retained samings 120,531,605 136,779,149
Total Equity 142 126,634 130 962 437
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND ECQLATY 158, 762 518 181,263,050

Approwed for lssue by the Board of Directors on 36 February 2024 and signed on lis behalf by:

s o
JLo 0 _

The accompanying nobes an pages 5 — 30 form an integral par of these financial statements.
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Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Yaar onded 31 December 2023

(expressed in United Stales dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Page 2

Operating Incoma
Dibvaiasrsd isihs
Met unmealized gains on financial instruments at FYTPL

Mel unraalized Mpains on investmants in associaies at FVYTPL

Imzres! incoma

Mot rading gaing

Net faresgn exchange gains (lossas)
Total opermting (lossespincome
intarest exponse

Mel aperating (losses incams

Operating Expenses
Auidil feag
Oihér Expanses

[Less)/Prafit befors Taxatien
Taxation credi

Met [Loss)Prafit for the year

Ciher Comprahensive Income, not of tax -
Marm ifal will nol be reciazafied bo profil or loas:
Changes in the fair value of equity imsestmants at FYTOCH

ftgm that may be sibsequently reclbesiliod fo profil or loss:
Foraign currency iranstalion adjusiments

Total other comprehensive (loss) incoma, net of tax
Total Comprehensive (boss) income Tor the Year

Earnings per stock unit
Basic and fully diluied

Tha accomparying noles on pages 5 — 30 ferm an integral part of these financial stabaments,

Note

8

19

20

&1(a)
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2023 2022

$ 5

3,935,445 3,587 540
1,781 54, 844
{14,534 479) 34,190, 302
TH.283 21,449
82,014 140,114

23 646 17,454
{10316, 200) 37976 595

4. 188.453) 1659, 553
(14.504.753) 36,317 072
{27.519) (23,818)
{1,366,817) (3,099,955)
{1,394 3065 (3123771}
{15.899,089) 33,193,301
{15.834,083) 33,193,301
28841 (1.324 B85)
[2.721,315) 2,308,422
(2.392,474) 982 736
{18.291,563) 34.177,037
-0.013 Dub24
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Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited
Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended 31 December 2023

(expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Page 4

Hote
Cash Flows from Operating Acthvities
{LessyPralit bafore taxation
Adgustmanls for
Inlenrest incoma on financial assets al amorised cost 18
Amaortisation of intangible asset
Met rading gains
Nt foneign exchange (gains) losses
Interest expense on financial llabdties al amortisod cost 18
Met unrealised losses/ (gains) on investments in associales al FVTPL
Met unrealized gains on financial instruments — FYTPL

Increase in investment sacuritias
Increase in investmenis in associales
Decrease in other recelvables
Increasedecrease) in accounts payable
Increasa in due tofrom related parties

Inberest receved

Interest paid

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Repayment of debt security

Dividend paid

Mel cazh used in Inancing aclivitgs

Met Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Exchange (loss Vgain on foreign cash and cash equivalenis

Cash and cash equivalents al beginning of the period

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Year 4

The accompanying noles on pages 5 = 30 form an integral part of these financial statements.

2023 2022

-1 $
{15,899,089) 33,193,301
(75,293) (21,449)

- 10,188

(52.014) {140,114)

(23 846) 17454

4. 188,453 1,659,923
14.534 479 (34,190,302)
(91,781} (54, 844)
2,541,108 474 057
{10,312.433) {5,744 565)
(4. 404 100) {170, 78T)
168, TaT 180,143

BT, 020 (544 836)

30 460 368 .08 818
18,301,TH1 2,284 800
T1,442 20,676

(4,154,541} (1,781,021}
15.218.672 524,455
{14,303,970) -
(544 Z35) (478,723}
__(14848205) ___ {478,723}
AT0AET 45,732
(1,140) 560
2085672 2,039 380
2454 609 2 085672
67
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Page 5
Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited
Motes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2023
(expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1. Mentification and Principal Activities

{a) Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited (the Company) is a public limited liability company which is listed on the
Jamaica Slock Exchange ("JSET). It is incorporated in St Lucia under the intermational Business Companies
Act and its registerad office is located al Bourbon House, Bourbon Streel, Castries, 5t Lucia. On Januwary 5,
2018, the Company changed its name from Mayberry West indies Limited to Mayberry Jamaican Equities
Limited under the International Business Companies Act, Cap 12.14.

Effective December 28, 2023, Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited became a 50.42% owned subsidiary of
Mayberry Group Limited (MGL), which is incorporated and domiciled in Saint Lucia,

The Company is an investment company whose objective is to achieve long term capilal appreciation, while
preserving capital, by imvesting in and irading public equity securities in Jamaica ["Jamaican equities”).

(b} Reorgnisation of the Mayberry Group of Companies

Al an extracrdinary General Meating hald on July 268, 2023, the stockholdars of Mayberry Investments Limiled
(MIL) approved the reorganisation of the Mayberry Group of Companies under a Scheme of Arrangameant which
was then approved by the Supreme Court of Jamaica in Seplember 2023 in accordance with the Jamaica
Companies Act In December 2023, the new holding company, Mayberry Group Limited (MGL) was listed on
the Jamaica Stock Exchange and at the same time Maybemry Investments Limited was dalisied. The exishng
shareholders of MIL exchanged their shares for MGL shares of equal value. In December 2023, MIL also
fransferred ownership of all its subsidiaries directly to MGL.

Effective December 28, 2023, Maybery Jamaican Equities (MJE) became a 504% owned subsidiary of
Mayberry Group Limited (MGL), through the court approved Scheme of Arrangement. Previously, MJE was
owned 50.42% (2022 - 50.42%) by Maybemy Investmenis Limited.

2. Mabterial Aceounting Policles

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statemenis are sat out balow. These
policies have been consistently apphed for all the years presented unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

These financial staterments have been prepared in accordance with Intermnational Financial Reporting Standards
{IFRS) as issued by the |ASE (IFRS Accounting Standards), The financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of investment securities at fair value through
other comprehensive income ("FVTOCI), invesiments in associates al fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL") and financial assels at FVTPL, The company has determined that if is a similar entity to an investment
entity as defined in IFRS 10 and it continues to meel this definition (see note 2 [b)).

The preparation of financial stalements in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards requires the use of
cerain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management o exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Company’s accounting policies. Although these esimates are based on management's best
knowledge of current events and actions, actual results could differ from those estimates, The areas imvolving
a higher degrae of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estmates are significant to the
financial statemeants, are disclosed in note 3.

&
25'
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Page 6
Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited
MNotes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2023
(expressed in United States dollars unless olherwise indicated)

2. Material Accounting Policies [Continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (continued)
MNew, revised and amended standards and interpretations that became effective during the year

Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments 1o existing standards have been published that
bacame affective during the currant financial year. The Company has assessad the relevance of all such naw
standards, interpretations and amendments,

Narrow scope amendments fo lAS 1, Practice sfatement 2 and IAS 8, (effective for annual pericds beginning
on or after 1 January 3023). The amandments aim to improve accounting policy disclosures and to help users
of the financial staternents to distinguish between changes in accounting estimates and changes in accoanting
policias.

Mew, revised and amended standards and interpretations not yet effective and not early adopted by
the Company

Certain new accounting standards, amendments o accounting standards and merpretations have been
published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2023 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by
the Company, The standards, amendments and interpretations relevant to the Company are discussed below,
These standards, amendmaeants or interpretations are nol expected to have a material impact on the Company
enfity in the cument or future reparting pericds and on foreseeabls future transactions.

Amendment to IAS 1 - Non-current liabilities with covenants, (effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2024). These amendmenis clarify how conditions with which an entity must compdy within twalve
months after the reporting period affect the classification of a Rability. The amendments also aim to improve
information an anlity provides relaled io liabikties subject lo these conditions.

\
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Page T
Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited
MNotes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2023
(expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Material Accounting Policies [Continued)

(b} Investment in Associates
An entity that meats the IFRS 10 Consolidaled Financial Statemeants definition of an investment entity is required
to measure its invesiments at FVTPL in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Insfrwments. This is because using
fair value results in more relevant information than, for example, consolidation for subsidiaries or the use of the
equity method for interests in associates or joint ventures. The Company has determéned that its business
model and operations are similar to that of an “investment entity’ as defined in IFRS 10.

An invastment entity is an entity thal obtains funds from one o mone invesions for the purpase of providing them
with investment management services, commits to s investors: thal its business purpose is 1o invest funds
solely for retums from capital appreciation, investment income, or both, and measures and evaluales tha
performance of substantially all of fts investments on a fair value basis. The company has met and continues
to meel the substantive definition of an investment entity and is therefore considered similar to this type of
enlity, as ils siralegic objective of investing in Jamaican equities and providing investment management
senvices o investors for the purpose of generating retwrns in the form of long term capital appreciation, remains
unchanged. The company has no subsidianies but has investmants in associalos.

The Company may from time fo time seek to liquidate its positions in any of s Jamaican equities. The
circumstances under which the company may sell some or all of its investments include: (i) where the company
bebeves thal the Jamaican equilies ane fully valued or thal the onginal investment thesis has played oul; or (&)
where the company has identified other investment opportunities which it believes present more attractive rigk-
adjusted return opportunities and additional capital is needed to make such alternative investmeants.

For its Jamaican equities, the company's exil strategies may include selling the investments through private
placemenis, hedge funds or in public markets, While most stocks ane traded daily, some anchor holdings have
a 10 = 15 year horizon for the full growth potential anticipated o be realised (See note 3{a)).

Associales are all entilies over which the Company has significant influence bul not conirpl, generally
sccompanying a shareholding of betwean 20% and 50% of the voling rights. As the company B deemed to
have a similar business model to an investment entity as defined by IFRS 10, the company has elected the
exemplion from applying the equity method in 1AS Z8 for its investments in associates and accounts for its
invesiments in associales al FYTPL in accordance with IFRS 9,

The Company's associates are as follows:

The Company's
proportion of
ordinary shares
Accounting nald ()

Wame of Entity Year-end Mature of Business 2023 2022
Lazco Financial Services Lid March 31 Maney Senvices 21 21
Caribbean Producers (Jamaica) Limited  June 30 Food trading 20 20
lron Rock Insurance Limited Decamber 31  General insurance 20 19
Suprema Ventures Limited December 31 Betting, gaming and lottery 18 18
Dolla Financial Services Limited December 31  Microcredit 10 -

&
25'
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Page B
Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2023
(expressed in United States dollars unless oltherwise indicated)

2. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

(b} Foreign currency translation
(i} Functional and presentation curmency
Hems included in the financial stalaments are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The functional curmency of the Company
is Jamaican dollars based on its primary operating and regulatory environment.

The financial statements are presented in United States Dollars, the Company's presentation cummency in
accordance with its Articles of Association.

{i} Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rales prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Al the daie of the statement of financial position, monetary assats and liab#iies denominated
in foresgn currencies ane transiated using the cloging exchange rate.

Exchange differences resulting from the saflement of ransactions al rates different from Ihose al the dates of
the transactions, and unrealized foreign exchange diferences on unsatiled foreign currency moneiary assets
and Eabilities are recognised in the statement of profit o 1oss and other comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilties are a component of the change in their
fair value. Translation differences on non-monetary financial assels and labilties such as equities held af
FWVTPL, are recognised in the statement of profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation
differances, on non-monetary financial assets such as equities cassified as FWTOC] are recognised in other
comprehensive income,

(i) Translation from functional to presentabion cumrency
Assals and liabildies for the balance sheet are translated info the presentafion currency al the closing rate
at the date of the balance sheet. Income and expenses are iranslated at exchange raies al the dates of
the transactions. All resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive NCome,

(c) Intangible assets
Acquired computer software licensas and proprietary developed systems are capitalised on the basis of cosis
incurmed io acquire and brng 1o use the specific software. These costs are amortised over the estimated useful
iife of the software, which ranges from 5 to 10 years.

Imipairmeand

intangible assels are reviewsd for impairment whenewer events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carmying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which tha camying
amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs o
sall and value in use.

%’f MAYBERRY AUITIES 71
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Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited

MNotes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2023

(expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Material Accounting Policles [Continued)

(d} Financial assets

72

Enitial recognition and measuremant

Financial assals are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the conlractual provisions of the
instrument. This includes regular way purchases of financial assets and liabdities that require delivery of
assals within the time frame generally astablished by regulation or convention in the market place.

The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their contractual terms and
the business model for managing the instruments. Financial instrumants are indially measured al their fair
value, plus or minus directly attributable transaction costs for all instruments except in the case of financial
assels recorded at FVTPL. All other financial instruments including instruments designated at FVTPL are
measured al Tair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the staternent of profit and loss and
cOmprehensive income.

Classification and subsaguent measurement

The Company classifies all of its financial assets based on the business model for managing the assols
and the assats coniractual terms, The following measurement calegories are used in accordance with
the requirements of IFRS 9;

= those to be measured af fair value through other comprehensive income (FYTOC)

= Fair value through profit or loss (FYTPL), and

= those to be measurad at amortised cost.

Business model assessment

IFRS @ requires an assessmeni of the nature of the Company's business modeal at a level that best
reflects how it manages portfolios of financial assets. The business model reflects how the company
manages the assets in order to generate cash flow; this is, whether the company’s objective is solely to
collect the contractual cash flows from the assets or is to collect both the coniractual cash flows and
cash flows arising from the sale of assats. If naither of these is applicable (e.g., financial assets are held
for irading purposas), then the financial assels are classified as "Other” business model and measured
at FVTPL,

Ma EQIINTIES
2023 Annual Report (E¢"3>JAMA|CAN EQUITIES



Page 10

Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2023

(expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

(e} Financial assets ([continued)

Business model assessmant (continuad)

Factors considered by the company in determining the business model for a group of assets include:
1. How the assel's perdormance is evaluated and reporied o Key managemaeni personnel;

2. How risks are assessed and managed; and

3. How managers ane compensabed,

The company has determined that it has two business models;
Hold-te-collect business model; This comprises cash and cash equivalenis and accounis recelvable,
Thasa financial assels are held io collect contractual cash flows.

Oiher business model: This comprises equily investments. These financial assets are managed, and
their performance is avaluated on a fair value basks.

Equity Instruments

Financial assets measured at FVTOC]

¥Where the company has made an irrevocable electon io classify egquity invesiments at FVTOCI, they
are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the related fair value resenve, There is no subsaquent reclassification of fair value
gainglosses to profit or loss, Following the derecognition of the invesimeant, these realised gains/losses
are transferrad to relained samings.

Financial assels measured at FVTPL
Thiz category comprises equity investments which are hald for trading and are carried in the statement
of financial position at fair value with changes in fasr value recognised in profil or loss,

Dividend incomea
When representing a return on such equily investments, dnidend incoma is recognised in prafit of loss
when the Company’s rnight o receive payments is established.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Financial assels that are held to collect the contractual cash flows and that contain contractual terms
that give rise on specified dales to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest [SPPI)
are measured al amortised cost. Any gain or boss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit
of loss together with foreign exchange gains or losses. They are initially recognised at fair value plus
transaclion costs that are directly attributabde to thelr acquisition or issue and are subsequently camied
al amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less provision for impairment,

The company’s financial assets measured al amortised cost comprise cash and cash equivalents, and
olher receivables in the statement of lnancial position.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, bank balances and other short term highly Bgqusd
invistments with original maturities of three months or less.
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Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited
MNotes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2023
(expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. Material Accounting Policles (Continued)
(&) Financial assets (continued)

n

vi. |mpairment
Expected credit losses ("ECL") are established for all financial assets, except for financial assets
classified or designated as FVTPL and equity securiies designated as FVYTOGI, which are not subject
to impairment assessment. The impact of ECLs on other financial assets is considered imm alerial as
this comprises primarily cash and cash equivalents.

The Company assesses on a forward looking basis the ECL associated with its financial asseis classified
at amortised cosl. The methodology used to determing the amount of the provision is based on whelher
there has been a significant increase in credil risk since initial recognition of the financial asset. For
those where the credil risk has not been increased significantly since initial recognition of the financial
assel, twelve month ECLs along with gross interest income are recognised, For those for which credit
rizk has increasad significantly, lifetima ECLs along with interest income on a net basis are recognisead.
The company assumes thal the credit risk on a financial assel has increased significantly if it is more
than 30 days past due. The Company assumes that there is no significant increase in credil risk for
instruments that have a low credit risk. This assumption is used primarily for cash and cash equivalents.

wil. Daerecognition

Regular way sales of inancial assels are recognised on frade date, being the date on which the Company
commits {0 sell the assel. Financial assets are derecognised when the righls to receive cash flows from
e financial assets have expired or have beon transferred and the Company has transferned substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair valua, baing their issue proceeds, net of transaction costs
directly attributable lo the issue of the insirument. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method, which ensures that any inferest expense recognised in the staternent of profit
or lass and ather comprahensie incoma over the parniod to repayment is a conslant rate on the balance of the
Eabilty carried in the statement of financial position,

The Company's financial liabdities comprise promissony nole payable, accounts payable, debl securily in issue
and due o related companies.

The Company derecognises a financial liabddity when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or
ecgpirad,

(g} Offsetting financial instruments.

Financial assels and liabilities ane offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when
there is an unconditicnal and legally enforceabde right to offset the recognised amounis and there is an intention
i satlle on a nal basis, or reaksa the assels and saltle the liabdikes simultansously.

(h} Borrowings

U]

74

Borrowings are recognized inilially al cost, being their issue proceeds, net of fransaction cosls ncurred,
Subsequently, bormowings are stated at amortssed cost and any difference between nel proceeds and the
redemption value is recognized in the statement of profit or loss and ofher comprehensie income over the
period of the borowings using the effective yield method.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
ewvants, i iz probable that an outfiow of resources will be required to setia the obligation, and a reliable estimata
of the amount can be made.

&
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Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited
MNotes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2023
(expressed in United Stales dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2, Material Accounting Policies [Continued)

i} Revenue Recognition
interest income s recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for all interest-

bearing instruments on the accrual basis using the effective vield method based on the actual purchase price.
Interest income includes coupons eamed on fied investments and discount or premium on financial instruments,

(k) Income Taxes
Taxalion axpense n the stalement of profit or loss and other comprahensive income compases cument and
deferred tax charges.

Current tax charges are based on taxabbe profit for the year, which differs from the profit before tax reported
because it excludes items that are taxable or deduciible in other years, and iems that are never axable or
deductible. The Company's kabilty for current tax is calculated at tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date. It establishes provisions where appropriate
on the basis of amounts expected 1o bo paid 10 the tax authotes,

Deferred tax is the tax expecied 1o be paid or recoverad on diferences between the carmying amounts of assels
and liabifiies and the comesponding tax bases, Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method,
on lemporary differences arising between the tax bases of assels and Babilies and their carrying amounis in
the financial statements. Curmently enacted or substantively anacted tax rates are used in the determination of
deferred income tax.

Deferrad tax assels are recognised fo the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the lemporary differences can be utilised,

Current and deferred tax assels and liabilities are offset when they arize from the same taxable entity and relate
to the same Tax Authority and when the legal right of offset exists. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income except where it relates fo iterns charged or credited
to equity, in which case deferred tax is also accounted for in equity. The principal temporary differences arise
from depreciation of property, plant and equipment, revaluation of certain financial assels and tax losses carmed
forward

iy Share capital
Ovrdinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributabie to the issue of new shares are
shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds. nel of tax. Incremental costs directly atiributable o the issue
of new ordinary Stock units ang ncluded in the cost of acquisition as pan of the purchase conssderation,

Preference share capital ks classified as equity except where it is redeemable on a specific or delerminable date
or a1 the option of the shareholders andior if dividend payments ane nol discretionary, = which case it is
classified as a liability. Dividend paymenis on preference shares classifed as a liabdity are recognized in the
staternent of profit or loss and other comprahensive income as interest expense.

{m) Segment reparting
The Board of directors considars the Company o have a single operating segment. The Board of Directors’
assat allocation decisions are based on a single, inlegrated investment siralegy and the Company's

performance is evaluated on an overall basis which is as per the primary financial statements of the Comparny,

(n) Dividend disiributions
Dividends are recognized as an appropriation in the Company's financial statements, in the period which the
dividends are approved.

Dividends for the year thal are declaned after the reporisng date are dealt with in the subsequent svents nobe.
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Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited

Motes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2023

(expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

3. Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates
{a) Critical judgements in applying the Company's accounting policy

The preparation of the financial statemenis requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will
seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the Company's
accounting policies. The Company makes estimates and assumpbions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabdlities within the next financial year. This note provides an overview of the areas that invohlve a
higher degrea of judgement or complaxity, and major sourcas of estimation uncerlainty thal have a significant
risk of resulting in a material adjustment within the next financial year. Estimates and judgements ane continually
evalualed and are based on hislorical expenence and other factors, including expeciations of future events that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Delailed information aboul each of these estimales
and judgements is included in the related notes together with information aboul the basis of calculation for each
affected line #em in the financial statemenis, In addition, this note also explains where there have been actual
adjustments this year as a result of an emor and changes o previous estimates:

L Investment Entity Business Model
With the Company’s listing in 2018, there was considerable deliberation and consideration given 1o the
Company's businass modeal and objectives which weara also associated with the unavailability of licenseas for
ceriain types of collective investment schemes in Jamaica, Management is of the view thal its business
model is, and always has been, similar to that of an Sinvestment entity” as defined in IFRS 10 having
consideration o the following key matters amongst other facts:

1. The Company provides investment management services to multiple investors who have invested in

the Company via the JSE io take advantage of the managament of a portfelio of Jamaican aguities on
their behalf.

2. The Companys principal objective s solely o invest in Jamaican equities for meturns from capital
appreciation and investmeant income.

3. The company manages and evaluatles pedormance on the Jamaican equitkes on a fair value basis. A
Met Assel Value [MAY) is tracked daily and communicated 1o the Company's nvestors and potential
investors via the J5E and the Company’s website. Additionally, the Company's Investment Manager is
compansated based on the fair value appreciation of the portfolis over time (note 96 (1))}

The purpose and design of the company is therefore similar to that of an imvestment entity per IFRS 10,

i, Invesiments in associated companies

IAS 28 prescribes the accounting requirements for enfities that while not controlled or jointly contralled by
the reporing entity, are subject o significant influence by it and are deemed associates. The standard
indicales that a holding of 20% or mone of the voling power of the investee is presumad 1o give rfise 1o
significant influence, unless it can be clearly demonstrated that this is in fact not the case, Conversely, a
holding of lass than 20% of the voting power is presumed not to give rise to significant influence, unless it
can be clearly demonsiraled that there is in fact significant infleence. The Company has five investmenis
which meet the criteria of having influence based on management's representation on the Board of directons
which places it in a position to contribute 1o policy formation and participate in decisions about dividends
and othar distributions.
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Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited
Motes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2023
(expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

3. Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates [Continued)
{a) Critical judgements in applying the Company’s accounting policy (continued)

i. Investments in associated companies (conlinued)

The Company also has shareholdings of 20% in Blue Power Limited, howewver the Company has never sat on
v Board of Direclors, nor any key operational commiliees and Management is not of the view they exarcise
any significant influence over this enlity’s activities. This entity has therefore been accounted for as a financial
investmeant.

The Company elected the LAS 28 exemplion from applying the eguity mathod of accounting to measure its
imsestments in associates and inslead meagure them at FVTPL in accordance with IFRS 9. Management is of
the wiew thal fair value measurement provides more wseful information for users of the financial statements.
This election is consisient with the determination by Management that the Company is an entity of similar type
to an investment entity defined in IFRS 10 as discussed above.

(b} Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Fair value of financial instruments

Substantially all the Company’s financial assets and some Eabilities included in the company’s financial
siatemenis require measurement at, and/or disclosure of fair value. Management uses its judgment in selacting
appropriate valuation echniques 1o delerming fair value of investment securities.

Fair value is the price thal would be recoived to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market paricipants at the measurement date. Market price is used o determine the fair value of a
financial instrument. For financial instrumenis whera no market price is available, the fair values presanted
have been estimated using present value or other estimation and valuation techniques based on markel
conditions existing al the and of the reporting period.

The values derived from applying these techniques are significantly affected by the underlying assumptions
used conceming both the amounts and timing of future cash flows and the discount rales. The foliowing
methods and assumptions have been used:
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MNotes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2023
{expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

3. Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates [Continued)

ib) Key sources of estimation uncertainty [continued)

Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

(i) Invesiment secuntes classified as FYTPL and FYTOCI are measured at fair value by reference 1o quoted
market prices when available re last bid, ask and trade prices. Il guoted market prices ane not available,
then fair values are estimated on the basis of pricing models or discounted cash fiows or ather recognized
valuation lechniques.

Th fair walues of liguid assets and other assets maturing within one year ame assumed 1o approoamatie their
cammying amount. The assumplion is applied to liquid assets and shord term elements of all financial assets
and liabilities.

(i} The fair values of variable rate financial instruments are assumed to approximale their camying amounts,

The company uses the following three level fair value hisrarchy in accordance with IFRS in determining and
desclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation technigue:

Lewvel 1 quoled prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Lewved 2 other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value
iz observable, either directly or indirectly.

Lavel 3 Ischmiques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the reconded
fair value that are not based on observable market data,

Transfers of iterns between levels are recognised in the period they occur.
The company measures its investment securities at fair value using level 1 inputs.

Income Taxes

There are cerlain transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determénation is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Company recognises Habilities for actual and anticipated tax awdit issues
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. In determining these estimates, Management
considers the ment of any lax audil issues raised, based on thesr inlerpredation of the Waxation laws, and their
knowledge of any precedents established by the laxation authorities. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounis that were inftially recorded, such diferences could materially impact the
curmant tax and deferred tax provisions in the parod in which such determination is made. The Company also
recognises deferrad tax assets on tax losses carmed forwand where il anticipates making future taxable income
to offset these losses.

The 5L Lucian tax authorities anacied carain tax laws in 2012 and 2019 that contain cerlain grandfatharing
provigions. Some of those changes came info effect during 2021 for the Company, while others were effective
in 2022, These are discussed in note 24,
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Motes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2023
{expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

4. Cash and Deposits

2023 2022

$ 5

Cash and cash equivalents 1,445,727 2 0B56T2
Restricted deposil account - 284 478
1,445,727 2,370,150

Inchuded in deposits i interest receivable of $2,824 (2022: S846)

Far the purposes of cash flow staterment, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

2023 202
5 §
Cash and deposits 1,445 727 2,085 672
Imvestrmient Secunties with 90-day maturity 1,009,272 -
2,454 %50 2,085 672

5. Reverse Repurchase Agresment
2023 2022
H $
Gross reverse repurchase agresment 1,008,633 -
Interest receivable 6838 -
1.009.272 =

6. Reconciliation of Liabilities arising from Financing Activities

The table below details the movement in debt for each of the periods presented, Financing acliviies represent deii
security issued and other loans.

Debt security in issue Promissory note payable
2023 2022 2023 2022
5 5 5 $
At 1 January 2032 14,559, 660 14 272 342 6,622 157 G522 299
Interest payable (8.681) (18.673) - (25418}
14,550,979 14,252 469 6,622,157 6,406 881
Principal repayments (14,303,970} - - -
Interest payable 24917 8,681 - -
Amaortisation of borrowing costs 17443 23,372 - -
Currency transiation adjustments (264,452) 275,138 (139,935) 125,276
At 31 Decermber 2023 24 917 14,559 660 6,482 222 6,622 157
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T. Investment Securities

2023 2022

5 $

Equity securities al PVTOCI 28,942 077 31,424,608
Equity securities al FYTPL 19,452 355 8,137,813
Debt securities at FWVTPL 53,168 -
49 447 6520 38,562 421

8. Invesiments in Associates

Details of each of the Company’s material associates at FYTPL at the end of the reparting period are as follows:

2023 2022

$ 3

Supreme Yentures Limited 85610995 86 478,979
Canbbean Producers Jamaica Limited 12,879,398 17,154, 430
Lasco Financial Services Limited 3,328,691 5,008,774
Iromrack Ingurance Company Limited GB2.432 631,641
Dolta Financial Services Limited 4,225,257 .

106726973 118274824
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9. Related Party Transactions and Balances

2023 2022
$ $
(a) Transactions with related parties
Interesi expanse (i) 3,048,629 584 426
Investment management fea and incentive fesa (i) TT6.832 2,318,639
Dividend incorme 3,935,445 2948310
Administrative suppon and professional lees 294 B96 386,847
Ky management compensation 50,435 50,346
Directors’ emoluments 34,491 36,333
(b} Year-end balances arising from transactions with related parties
Dwe ta -
Maybermry Investments Limited {i) 45,535,018 13,885,613
Mayberry Asset Managers Limited (included in note 10 (i) 204,470 1,797,207

45,739,489 15,682,820

This comprises a promissory note payable as discussed in note 12, and an outstanding inter-company balance of
£30,052,797 (2022 - 57,263 ,456) . The inter-company balance is secured and has no fixed repayment terms,

On February 15, 2017, the Company entered inio an agreement with Mayberry Asset Managers Limited, a company
incofporated in St Lucia that i controlled by two of the Company’s directors, The agreemant provides for the
following fees to be paid to Maybery Assetl Managers Limited as compensation for the services rendered, and
oexpenses borne by i, calculated as follows:

1. A management fee calculated as 0.50% of the nel assel value, and

2. Anincentve fee calculated as 8.00% of the increase in the comprehensie noome,
The management fee is accrued and charged quarterly in arrears. The amount charged for the year was 3776832
(2022 - §740,471) (note 19)

The incentive fee is accrued and charged on the East day of each calendar year with reference 1o the comprehensive
incoma aamed for the calendar year in guestion. Mo incentive fee is payable if the net book value per share falls
below prévious levels attained (hurdle per share™) uniil and unless hose pravious kevels ane regained and
surpassed. The amount charged for the year was Sndl (2022 — $1,578,168) (note 19).
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Mayberry Jamaican Equities Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2023
{expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)

10. Accounts Payable

.

s "y

Audit fee payable 22,729 21,828
Investment managemeant fee (nole 9 (b)) 204 470D 197 673
Investment incentive fee - 1.594 534
Dividend payable 28,362 24 426
Other payables 820,387 11,884
1.075.948 1.855,345

Deferred Taxation

Al December 31, 2023 the Company had unused tax losses of $1,0992 573 (2022 - $1,992,573) available for ofset
against future profits. Mo deferred laxes have been calculated as with several laws that came into affect July 1,
2022 in St Lucia, it i5 not considered probabile that there will be taxable profits for the foreseeable future based on
the Company's primary sources of revenus being exdernal to 5t Lucia (note 24),

12. Promissory Note Payable

On September 1, 2021, the Company entared inte a loan facility with MIL, executed via a promissory nole,
amounting to $7,953 480 (J51.2 billion). The note attracts interest at 12.25% (2022 = 6.8%) and matures in 2026,
however the loan can be prépakd upon ghing the requisite notice withoul premium or penalty and shall be made
with the accrued interest on the amount prepaid. Interest payable included in the balance at year end amounted to
% nil (2022 = % nil).

The note is secured by some of the Company’s investments in associated companies included in note 14. The
loan & subject to a malerial adverse change in financial condition clause.
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13. Debt Security in lssue

2023 2022

5 5

Corporate Bond Holders . 14,550,979
Interest payable 24,917 8,681
24 917 14,559,660

On September 24, 2018, the Company completed a secured corporate bond issue amounting to 517,349 488 (J52.2
billign), The above amount is shown net of ransaction costs which were being amortised over the life of the bond,
The bond matured in 2023 and was at a fived interest rate of 7.25% per annum paid quarterdy. The bond was
arranged by Sagicor Investments Jamaica Limited and registered with JCSD Trustee Services Limited.

The band was secured by some of the Company's quoted equity investments, included in note 14, in various entities
that are being traded on the JSE. The following financial covenants were required to be maintained unless waived

by bondholders:

. Interest coverage ratio must be at least 1.5x;
ii. Total debt to eqguity ratio must not exceed 40%, and;

ii. Carrying value of the quoted aquity investiments must be at least 1.5x the camying amaunt of the

debl secusity in issue.
The company complied with these covenants.

14. Pledged Securities

The camrying amounts of assets pledged as security for current and non—current borrowings are;

2023 202
] ]
Restricted deposit . 284 478
Imvestment securities at FVTOCI - 6,812,039
Imvestments in associates at FVTPL 12.951’,221 116,350,329
12 967,221 123,446 845
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15. Share Capital
No. of Mo, of 20
Shares Shares §
Authonsed:
1 special righis preference share of 31,000
par value
4 000,000 crdinary shares $0.01 par value
Issued and fully paid
Preference share 1 1 1,000
Ordinary shares 1,201,149, 281 20555280 1,201,148.291 20,555 260
1,201,148,282 20,556,280 1,201,148 292 20,556 260

The rights of the Special Share are set out in section 10A of the amended Articles of Association of the Company
and requing the consent in wiling of the holder of the Spoecial Shame 10 vary some provisions of the Articies,

16. Fair Value Reserve

This represents net unrealined gains on the revaleation of equity securities classified as FWTOCL

17. Translation Resarve

This represents the foreign currency ranslation gaing or losses ariging from the conversion from functional currency

{Jamaican doliar) to presentation currency (United States dollar).

18. Interest Income and Interest Expense

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost

Inleresl axpanse on financial liabilities al amortised cost:
Inter-company finance charges (note 9 (a))
Debl securty in Bsue

2023 Annual Report

2023 2022

-] -

75 2603 21,449

(3,048, 629) (504 426)

{1,130,824) {1,065,497)

(4,188,453 {1,658,923)
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19. Expenses by Nature

Eﬂl; 2022
$
Legal and professional fees 38812 53,084
Investment management fes (nole 9a) Tr6.Baz 740,471
Invastmant incentive fae (note Ba) - 1.578,168
Professional and administrative support 284 BOG 386 847
Reqistrar and brokerage fees 51,279 110,746
Salaries 50,435 50,346
Marketing & public relations 0511 47,354
Amortisation of intangible assat - 10,188
Computer license fees 22,894 2424
Directors’ fees 34,481 36,333
Other 26,667 83,994
1,366.817 3,099,955

20. Taxation

The taxation charge on net profit for the year consgists of the following:

2023 2022
§ 5

Current Lax
Deferred tax (note 11)

¥ [ [ ]
(3

The tax on the Company’s net profit before taxation differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
applicable tax rates to profits as follows:;

2023 a0
5 -1

(Loss)profit before taxation 15 868 08 33,103,301
Tax at 30% (4,769,727) 9,957,980
Maon-taxable incoma 4, TGS T2T {9,957 990)
Effect of changes in tax rales [see below) - &

= =

Effective July 1, 2022, there was a change in the tax rate as the Company became subject to the Income Tax Act
{ITA) No. T of 2012. As of that dale, the previous ebective of being subject to tacation at the rate of 1% was repealed
and the Company deemdad fully resident for tax and other purposes in Sainl Lucia. The Company i subject 1o
taxation at a rate of 30%. The company has applied the provisions of the Forelgn Source Income exemption under
Section 8(3) of the ITA fo its income derved from sources outside of Samt Lucia (note 24).
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21. Financial Ratios
{a} Earnings Per Share

Basic eamings per share is calculated by dividing the net profitiloss) atiributable to shareholders by the

weighted average number of shares in issue during the year,

Met (loss)profit atiibutable to stockholders ($)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (units)
Basic samings per stock unit ($)

Fully diluted eamings per stock unit ($)

2023 2022
(15,899,089) 33,193,301
1,201,149,282  1,201,149,201
{0.013) 0.028
{0.013) 0.028

Thes Tollowing metrics are non - GAAP financial measunes which provide additional information on the value of
each share, We believe this provides useful information to investors in interpreting the Company's financial
results relative to their individual investments.

(b} Met book value per stock unit

Met book value is calculated by dividing the value of the tofal assets less its tolal liabilities by the number of
ordinary stock share units in issue al the end of the year.

2023 2022
Mt book value and of year (§) 112,126,634 130,962 432
Number of ordinary shares in issue (units) 1,201,149, 291 1,201,149,291
Mel book value per stock unit (5) 0.0930 0.109

(c}) Marketvalue of ordinary stock

Market valve of ordinary stock units is calculated by multiplying the closing bid price: per share as quoted on
the JSE converted inlo United States dollars by the numbser of ordinary stock share units in issue at the end of

the year.
2023 2022
Closing bid price per unit as at 31 December ($) 0.0840 0.081
Mumiser of ordinary shares in issue {units) 1,201,149 291 1,201,148.291
Market value of ordinary shares (3) 76,873,555 97,293,093

22. Dividonds

2023 2022
$ §
Dividends paid 544 235 478,723

On June 28, 2023, an ordinary dividend of $0.0005 (J50.07) per share was approved by the Board of Directors for
payment on July 31, 2023,

On June 16, 2022, an ordinary dividend of $0.0004 (J50.06) per share was approved by the Board of Directors for
payment on July 18, 2022,
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23, Financial Risk Management

Thie Company s exposed through its oparations to the following financial risks:

Crodit risk

Fair value or cash flow interest rale risk

Foraign exchange rigk
Liquidity risk, and
Equity price risk

In comman with all olher businesses, the Company B exposed 1o risks thal anse from its use of Bnancial
instruments, This note describes the Company’s objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks and
the methods used o measure them. Further quantitative information in respect of these rsks is presented

throughout these financial statements.

In addition o the financial nsks cullined above, the Company may be impacted by the lingering effects ofgeo-
political events such as the war in Ukraine. These events have dampened the global growth forecasts for 2024 and
are a risk to financial markets. The Company has reviewed the objectives, policies and processes for managing
the risks and the methods used lo measure them in order to improve the effectiveness of As risk management

sirategies.
{a) Fimancial instruments by category
At amortised cost FVTOCI FVTPL
2023 2012 2023 2023 2023 0z2
$ § § 5 5 §
Financial Assets
Cashi aind bank balances 1,445 727 2,370,150
Reverse nepanchass
afresmient = . - 1,008,272 -
IFvEstrnenl Secufilies - 20042077 M A24B08 19505543 8137 813
Imvestmens in associates . ' s - 106726873 119274 824
Othar recetvablas 132 936 55,655 - - - -
Total Financial Assets 1,578 653 2 425 805 20842 07T 31 424 608 127 241,788 12T 412637
Financlal Liabilities
Due 1o parent company 9052797 7263456 ; ; : .
Actounis payable 1,075,948 1,855,345 - = L =
Dioit security in issue 24,817 14,550,680 .
Promissary nole payable 5482222 6,622,157 -
Total Financial Liabilities 46635884  30.300.618
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23. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(b)

(e)

(d)

88

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

Financial mstruments not measured at fair value include cash and bank balances, olher receivables, debl
security in issue, promissory note payable, due to parent company, and accounts payable.

Due to their shor-term nature, the carrying values of cash and bank balances, other receivables, due 1o parent
company, and accounts payable approximale their fair value,

The fair value of debl security in issue is 5 nil (2022 - $14,374 405} and the fair value of promissory note payable
is 36,481 477 (2022 - $5,576,031). The fair values are based on cash flows discounted using a bormowing rate
of nil (2022 - 9.25%) and 12.25% (2022 = 12.25%), respectively.

Financial instruments measured at fair value

All of the Company’s investment secunties and invesiments in aszociales thal are subsequently measured at
fair value are Level 1 instruments. There were no transfers between levels during the period.

Financial risk factors

The Board has overall responsibility for the determination of the Company's risk management objectives and
podicies and, whilst rataining ultimate responsibdity for them, it has delegated the authorty for designing and
operating processes that ensure the effective implementation of the objectives and policies to the Company’s
finance function. Thoe Board provides principles for overall fsk management, as well as policies covening
specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate sk, credi risk, investments of excess liquidity and
the impacts of global and geo-political events.

The overall objective of the Board is to sel policles that seek to reduce risk as far as possible withoul unduly
affecting the Company’s competitiveness and flexibility, Further details regarding these policles are set out
bedow:

Market risk

Marke! risk arses from the Company's use of inferest-bearing, tradable and foreign currency financial
instruments. It s the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
bacause of changes in interest rates (interes! rate risk), foraign exchange ratés (currency nisk) or other markat
factors [other price risk).

Price risk

Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuale as a result of changes in market prices,
whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or its issuer or faclors
affecting all instruments traded in the markel.
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23, Financial Risk Management (Continued)
(e} Financial risk factors (continued)

Equity price risk

The Company is exposed to equity securities price risk, which arises from the securities held by the Company
as part of its investment portfolia. The primary goal of the Company’s mesiment strategy is o maximise
investment retums. To manage is price risk arising from equity securities in the Company's investment
portfolio, the Company uses aquity diversification. The company’s invesiments in associales which are nod
characierised as financial assets are measured at FWTPL and have therefore bean included in this sensitivity
analysis below as they account for a material proportion of equity securities held.

The table below summaries the sensitivity of the Company’s nel inceme and other comprehensive income to a
reasonable possible change in eguity price movements as al Deceamber 31. The analysis is based on the
assumption of 8 6% (2022 - 6% increase or 8 3% (2022 - 6%) decrease in pquity prices, with all other variables
remaining constant,

Het Effect on Effect on Other Hat Effect Effect on Other
Loss after Tax  Comprehensive on Profit Comprehensive

Incoma after Tax Incoma
2023 2023 2022 2022
] § 5 5
6% (2022 - 6%) increase 7,570,760 1.796,525 7,644,758 1,885476
3% (2022 - 6%) decrease (3,785,380) (608,262) (7,644,758) (1,885,476)
Currancy risk
Cumency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will luctuate because of changes in foreign
exchange rabes.

Cumency risk anses from other receivables, accounts payvable, due tofrom related companies and cash and
cash equivalents. The Company manages this risk by ensuring that the net exposure in foreign assets and
Eabilities are kept 1o an acceplable level by monitoring currency positions,
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23. Financial Risk Management (Continued)
ie) Financial risk factors (continued)
Currency risk (continued)

The Company is axposed 1o foreign currency risk in respect of the fuctuation of the United States dollars
("USO") against the Jamaican Dodlar ("JMD™) a5 follows:

2023 2022
$ s
Assets:
Cash and bank balances 1.108.872 2.032.051
Other receivable 68,278 55 655
Total assets 1,177,150 2,087,706
Liabilities
Due to parent company 1,0:30,305 BO2aTa
Accounts payable - 1,202
Total Rabllities 1,030,305 804,081
Met position 146,845 1,283,625

The following table indicates the sensitivity of profit or koss before tax to changes in foreign exchange rates.
The change in curmency rale below represents Management's assessment of the possible change in foreign
axchange rates. The sensitivity analysis represents outstanding foreign curmmency denominated balances listed
above and adjusis their translation at the yoar-ond for 4% (2022 - 4% ) depreciation and a 1% (2022 - 1%)
appreciation of the USD against the JMD.

The changes bebow would have no impact on other componenis of equity.
Effect on Loss % Change Effect on Profit

% Change bafore tax im before tax
in Currency 31 December Currency 31 December
Rata 2023 Rate 2022
2023 2022
Curmancy:
uso -4 5874 - 51,345
usD 1 {1.468) + {12,8386)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interast
rates.

Floating rate instruments expose the Company o cash flow interest rate risk, whersas fixed rate instrumeants
expose the Company 1o fair value interest rale risk.

Al the reporting date the Company had no material financial assels or lablities that were subject o cash flow
interest rate risk and therefore no interest rate mismatches from interest bearing assels and liabildies. There
are two fixed rale debt instruments: promissory note payable and corporate deblt which exposes the Company
to tair vakee interest rate risk. The intention is to hold these instruments to maturity with prepayments where the
terms facilitate.

&
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23. Financial Risk Management (Continued)
(e} Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to dischange an obligation and cause the
other party 1o incur @ financial loss. Credit risk anses from other receivables, and cash and bank balances.

The maximum exposure 1o cradl risk is equal to the carmying amount of other receivables, and cash and bank
balances in the statement of fnancial position.

Cash transactions and limited to high credit quakity financial institutions. The Company has polcies that lmit
the amounl of credit exposure to any one financial insttution, The ECL related fo other receivables is
considenad mmmatenal.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company is unable to meet is payment obligations associated with its financial
liabilities when they fall due. Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and
marketable securities, the availabiity of funding through an adeguate amount of commitied credit facilities and
the ability to close out market positions,

Liguidity risk managemsant process

The Company's liquidity risk management process, as carmed out within the Company and monitored by the
finance department includes:

«  Menitoring future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis.

The maintenance of stable funding facilities to meet ongoing cash commitments even during periods of
girass,

= Dngoing assessment of expected cash flows and the avaifability of high-grade collateral which could be
used to secure funding if reguired.

= Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable and diverse assets that can easily be liquidated as protection
against any unforeseen interruption to cash flow.

= Dptimising cash returns on investments,
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23. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(e} Financial risk factors (continued)

Liquidity risk {continued)
The table below presents the undiscounted cash fiows (both inerest and principal cash flows) 1o settle inancial
iabilities, based on contractual repayment obligation,

Within 1te3 3to12 1te 5 Over
1Month _ Months __ Months  Years SYears  Total
5 $ $ L] ] 5
Financial Liabilities 2023
Accounis payable 1,053,218 22729 - - - 10755848
Promissory note payable - 1906 469 602,781 7837581 - B,639,841
Duse to parent company 18,052 TET - = = - 38052787
Total financial liabilities
{contractual maturity dates) 40.106.016 222 198 802,791 7837581 - 48 768 586
Within 103 Jto1d 1t0 5 Crver Total
1 Month Months Months Years 5 Years
5 3 § $ § 5
Financial Liabilities 2022
Accounts payabla 35,310 1,819.035 - = 1,855345
Debt security in issue - 260441 15,043,327 - - 15,303,768
Promissory note payable - 111035 339,272 7,808,993 - 8,259,300
Due 1o parent company 8,760 - T 254 696 - - 7,263,456
Total financial labilites
(contractual maturity dates) 45,070 g.ﬁlﬂ.ﬁ-ii EEE’FE‘EE 7,808,993 - 32,681,860

\
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24, Tax Laws in Effect

End of Grandfathered Status

As of 19 July 2021, all Grandlathered International Business Corporations (IBC's) incorpodaled pror fo
15" Movember 2018 became sulbgect to the Income Tax Act (ITA) Mo. 7 of 2012, Amongst other matters, this
requires additional filing requirements of affected companies and enables IBC'Ss 10 do business in and with Saint
Lucians and be deemad fully tax resident for tax and other purposes in Saint Lucia. The previous electives of being
tax exempt or subject to taxation at the rate of 1% were repealed and, the Company is now subject to taxation at
the rate of 30%.

As of July 1, 2021, the Company also became subject to the Economic Substance Act (as amended by Act 15 of
2020) (ESA) and previously grandiathered IBC's are required fo commence Economic Substance Retum ("ESR)
filings by specified dates,

Section 13 of the Economic Substance (Amendment) Act Mo. 15 of 2020 prescribes that all relevant entities formed
prior 1o 1 January 2019 are required 1o submit a first ESR filing teebve months after the end of the year of incoms.

Econemic Substance

In December 2019, Saiml Lucia enacted the Economic Substance Act Mo 33 of 2018, in order to comply with
international initiatives and demands. This i a precursor to the Economic Substance Retumn Form te be infreduced
for the purpose of proving thal companies can demonsirate sufficient substance i its economic activities
undertaken, which proof will be measwred amongst other things, by looking at, extent of physical presence, place
and conduct of meetings of the Directors, and the number of employees engaged commensurate with revenus
genarated by the Company.

The Company is a Pure Equity Holding Company which under 5.11.(3) of the ESA, are subjected to a lesser amouni
of "substance”, The Company awalts the competent authorities review of its first ESR filing, to determine if its Core
income Generaling Activities (CIGA) and operations meel the requined standards. Once in compliance with the
provisicns of the ESA, the provisions of the Foreign Source Income axemption under Section 8(3) of the ITA applies
1o income derived from sources outside of Saint Lucia,
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